



Bingley Town Council, Myrtle Place, Bingley, BD16 2LF

MINUTES OF THE PLANNING COMMITTEE MEETING HELD ON ZOOM, ON TUESDAY 9TH MARCH 2021

Start: 6:30pm Finish: 7:40pm

Councillors present:	Barton, Clough, Drucquer, Heseltine, Miah, Owen, Taylor and	
	Williams	
Councillors in attendance not a		
member of this committee:		
In attendance:	Laura Jowett (Administrative Officer)	
Members of the public: Seven (part of the meeting)		

2021/95 Apologies for absence

- a) To note apologies for absence
- b) To receive and consider apologies for absence
- c) To approve reasons for absence

None

2021/96 Disclosures of interest

- a) To receive declarations of interest from councillors on items on the agenda.
- b) To receive written requests for dispensations for disclosable pecuniary interest
- c) To grant any requests for dispensation as appropriate.

Councillor Heseltine declared a non pecuniary interest in item 2021/100/8.

Councillor Barton declared a non pecuniary interest in item 2021/100/11.

Councillor Williams declared a non pecuniary interest a planning application at item 2021/100 as he may know one of the applicants.

2021/97 Minutes

To approve the minutes of the meeting held on Tuesday 9th February 2021

Resolved that the minutes of the meeting held on 9th February 2021 be approved.

2021/98 Public participation

Members of the public are reminded that this is their opportunity to speak to the meeting on any topic relevant to the work of the council. However, they may not speak during the rest of the meeting unless specifically invited to do so by the Chairman.

A member of Cottingley Green Belt Conservation Group spoke about item 2021/1010 the Draft Bradford Local Plan. He raised concerns that four proposed developments were on green belt land and that the proposed plans were generally not for affordable housing which is required in the area. He raised a point that a similar proposal had been rejected in 2019 due to traffic issues, concerns about education provision and infrastructure and the strength of community feeling. These concerns are still relevant. The member of the public advised that in 2019 drop-in sessions had been arranged at Cottingley. This

member of the public explained that in 2019 drop in events had been held at Cottingley Community Centre to enable people to view documents and submit comments on line, this was well used by the elderly. As the Draft Local Plan consultation is being held during the pandemic such facilities cannot be arranged and people may not be able to participate in the consultation.

Ward Councillor for Bingley Rural, Paul Sullivan echoed the previous speakers concerns and explained that Bradford Council's Green Belt policy refers to exceptions for building on land in the green belt but that the proposal for Cottingley does not meet these requirements. Councillor Sullivan raised concerns about increased traffic, highways safety and concerns about neighbouring towns merging as a result of development.

A member of the public spoke as a resident of Cottingley. He encouraged Bingley Town Council to request that Bradford Council extend the consultation period to enable residents to take part. He spoke about the risk to life as a result of the increase in traffic if the proposed development in Cottingley went ahead. He explained that the volume of traffic is already very high in this area and that the development would lead to an unacceptable increase particularly in the area of local schools. He explained that in the 1985 Bradford Development Plan it was noted that development on March Cote Lane was not appropriate and that the rise in traffic would lead to unacceptable problems. The resident pointed out that traffic levels have already increased significantly since 1985.

The Chair moved item 2021/101 up the agenda

2021/101 Draft Bradford District Local Plan

- a) To consider the Bradford Metropolitan District Council consultation on the Draft Bradford District Local Plan
- b) To consider any comments the council wishes to submit

Councillor Owen had written a draft response to the consultation which had been circulated ahead of the meeting. The Planning Committee expressed it's thanks to Councillor Owen for her work on this document.

Resolved to submit the following comments to the consultation on the Bradford Local Plan. 'Bingley Town Council wishes to comment on aspects of the Bradford Local Plan February 2021.

Bingley Town Council regrets the decision by Bradford Metropolitan District Council to make the Local Plan Consultation of such a short duration and its refusal to extend the deadline for comments. For such an important proposal, surely all residents should be given the chance to participate. To extend the deadline beyond the Local Elections in May and to take into account the gradual easing of lockdown measures would give those who do not or cannot use technology, to engage fully in the process. It seems to be discriminatory to take this route which will not allow many voters to express their views.

As Bradford Metropolitan District Council are aware, Bingley Town Council is in the process of developing its own Neighbourhood Plan and expects to hold its own Regulation 14 and Regulation 16 consultation and referendum before the end of 2021.

There are aspects of the proposed options for housing development which contradict the policies and objectives of the Bingley Town Council Draft Neighbourhood Plan, which has been publicly available and shared with Iain Cunningham, Senior Planning Officer at Bradford Metropolitan District Council A response from Iain Cunningham re the necessity or not of an S.E.A. is awaited.

Some sites which have been allocated for housing development lie within the Green Belt, namely:

- B/13 HC Greenhill Barn major potential impact
- B14/H Heights Lane, Eldwick moderate potential impact
- B18/H Land west of Heights Lane major potential impact
- CO1/H Marchcote Lane -moderate potential impact
- SH/6 H Bankfield Farm (this lies within the Cottingley Rural Ward) major potential impact
- SH5/H Bingley Road, Nab Wood -major potential impact

The five purposes of the Green Belt are:

- 1. To check unrestricted sprawl of large built-up areas
- 2. Prevent neighbouring towns merging
- 3. Assist in safeguarding the countryside from encroachment
- 4. Preserve setting and special character of historic towns
- 5. Assist in urban regeneration by encouraging the recycling of derelict and other urban land.

Bingley Town Council Draft Neighbourhood Plan - Chapter Natural Environment contains specific policies which seek to preserve and uphold National Green Belt policies and to preserve the environment for the benefit of all.

- a) NE1 Green Belt
- b) NE2 Protecting and enhancing locally important habitats
- c) NE3 Landscape Character
- d) NE 5 Green Infrastructure

It is the view of the Town Council that for each of the sites above, the constraints and development considerations which are highlighted in the Bradford Local Plan far outweigh the benefits in terms of housing numbers. These proposed developments will have a severe impact on the natural environment and increase pressure on road networks and infrastructure such as housing, education and health.

In particular, the proposed development at CO1/H Cottingley, has raised a high level of concern with residents. This development proposal was submitted on 22nd August 2019 and no decision was reached by the 22nd November 2019 deadline, despite over 220 objections being submitted. According to the drainage report SUDS (Sustainable Drainage Systems) are not viable for the March Cote Lane due to the geology / rock substrate. There will be an increased flood risk below the Marchcote Lane development, through extra pressure on Cottingley Beck, affecting the Lysander Way development, and potentially, Cottingley Town Hall, Nuffield Health Centre, Yorkshire Clinic and Dixon's Academy.

Cottingley Village is designated as a Special Character Area in the Bingley Neighbourhood Plan. Policy BBE5. Cottingley Town Hall and Community Centre is a grade 2 listed building. The building and land was gifted to the village in the 1860s to be held in trust for future generations, and it is in regular use for community education and social activities. The beck runs directly behind the building and there are serious concerns the additional water flow will undermine the foundations and eventually make this grade 2 listed building unusable.

The impact of increased traffic on Cottingley and the difficulties of access to the proposed site, as well as the environmental impact are a grave cause for concern. It is a clear breach of Bradford Council's previous LDP traffic safety assessments going back as far as the 1985 Lower Airedale Local Plan report that March Cote Lane and Lysander Way can not cope with the impact of extra road traffic. The whole area encompassing the B6146 Cottingley Moor Road, Lysander Way, B6269 Cottingley Cliffe Road, and the B6265 Bingley Road/A650 Bradford road from Wagon Lane to Saltaire are significant bottlenecks at peak times, owing to the traffic generated from Cottingley Primary School, Dixon's Cottingley Academy and Beckfoot and Hazelbeck Schools. In December 2019 there were two fatalities near the junction with Grange Park Drive. A thorough traffic survey is essential across these areas, in non-pandemic

circumstances and at peak times, to properly assess the density of traffic and the effect on the well-being and safety of pedestrians and residents. An assessment of air quality throughout the district is also required. It is astonishing that Bradford Metropolitan District Council is promoting a 'Clean Air Zone' which includes a corridor along Canal Road and into Shipley and Saltaire, yet proposes developments which will have a serious and lasting impact on the health of residents of Cottingley and Bingley.

The proposed two developments at SH/6 H Bankfield Farm and SH5/H Bingley Road contravene bullet point 2 above — 'to prevent neighbouring towns merging.' Within the Plan there is a section on 'Key elements of local strategy'. These include; 'Maintaining a Green Belt gap between Cottingley, Shipley and Bradford.' This development will clearly fill the gap which demarcates the towns of Shipley and Bingley/Cottingley along Bingley Road. It is the last area of open space along the main Aire Valley trunk road. These sites are classed as Shipley, but in real terms will probably have the most impact on the residents and infrastructure of Cottingley/Cottingley Bar. In addition, both areas are in Flood zones 1 and 2, are in the WHS Buffer Zone, and the impact on the GI corridor, PROW and local habitat networks would be devastating.

The proposed developments at BI3/H Greenhill Barn Lady Lane and BI4/H Heights Lane (West side) BI8H Land west of Heights Lane are in contravention of GreenBelt policies 1,2 and 3 as stated above. Greenhill Barn is located in a moderate performing Green Belt parcel. The site makes a major contribution to the purposes of including land in the Green Belt, has major potential for sprawl and would have a major impact on openness. There are no features within the site which could be used to create a more logical or potentially stronger Green Belt boundary. The site is currently designated as Green Belt, and the site specific Green Belt Assessment indicates that it has a major potential impact. The potential impact on the setting of Grade II Listed Building is not taken into account and it is with the 2.5km buffer of the SPA/SAC.

The Heights Lane sites B14/H and BH18/H adjoin the Prince of Wales Registered Park. The loss of the greenfield site is likely to have a negative impact upon the local landscape and townscape, particularly the Prince of Wales Park (a Registered Park/Garden) with the potential to impact heavily on this setting. Both sites also fall within 2.5km of the South Pennine Moors SPA/ and are located in a moderate performing Green Belt parcel. The sites make a major contribution to the purposes of including land in the Green Belt. They have a major potential for sprawl and would have a moderate impact on openness. Like Greenhill Barn, the sites do not present an opportunity to create a stronger boundary than that which exists.

Heights Lane is a narrow country road with no footpaths, the sight lines at the junction with Otley Road are virtually non-existent, with no space for either footpaths or improved sight lines this proposal detracts from highways safety.

BMDC Local Plan Policy SP5 Green Belt states that: 'All sites identified as being released from the Green Belt will be required to offset the impact of removing land from the Green Belt through compensatory improvements to the environmental quality and accessibility of remaining Green Belt land.' Surely it is incumbent on Bradford Metropolitan District Council to define exactly how and when this should be achieved. The destruction of the Green Belt and requirement for mitigation cannot be left to vague promises without any firm resolution or requirement for action from developers.

In 2020 the partial review of the Core Strategy recommended a lower overall housing requirement for Bradford, including Bingley circa 800, Cottingley 0. Bingley Town Council Draft Neighbourhood Plan Housing Chapter P28-29 states; 'the level of housing planned for the town was highlighted as a major concern of respondents to the consultation undertaken as part of the preparation of this Plan. It

showed that residents were not opposed to further house building but were very concerned about the scale of new housing planned to take place, much of it on land presently in the Green Belt. In particular, that it would be 'disproportionate and not sustainable. It was placing significant pressure on already stretched facilities such as health, education, green spaces and the road network. In addition, it was adding to the already high levels of commuting away from the Parish for jobs and services.'

An independent Housing Needs Assessment was carried out for Bingley Town Council's Draft Neighbourhood Plan in 2020. This is available <u>here.</u> We would draw your attention to the policies agreed based on the data and information contained in this Housing Needs Assessment.

- H1 Green Hill Housing Development
- H2 Mix and Type of Housing
- H3 Crosley Wood Affordable Housing
- H4 Affordable Housing
- H5 Exception Sites for Affordable Housing
- H6 Climate Emergency Design Considerations
- H7 Flooding and Water Management Considerations
- H8 Resilient Building

In the Masterplan commissioned by Bingley Town Council from AECOM, BI/021 is identified as having potential for housing development, yet has been rejected as such in the Local Plan. This site is not in the Green Belt, yet could surely provide the number of houses currently projected for Greenhill Barn and the two sites at Heights Lane.

Recent and ongoing developments in Bingley include; Five Rise Nursing Home, which provides accommodation for 67 individuals and the (incomplete) Whitelock Grange which will provide living accommodation for 45 residents. This is a total of 112 residences, yet these numbers are not included in the projected number of homes identified by Bradford Metropolitan District Council. These should be included in the housing allocation, especially as Bingley Town Council's own Housing Needs assessment clearly identifies a need for smaller accommodation to serve an ageing population.

There are specific needs in Bingley for types and size of housing as well as for affordable and social housing and BMDC are urged to study the data contained in the Housing Needs assessment, to consult with Bingley Town Council and to put this data at the heart of the housing allocations for Bingley.

The encroachment on the Green Belt directly contradicts National and Local Green Belt policies and these proposals do not meet the exception criteria. Public Health England document 'Improving Access to Greenspace' 2020 states, 'local authorities play a vital role in improving, maintaining and protecting existing Greenspace.' The National Planning Policy Framework is clear that Greenbelt boundaries should only be altered where exceptional circumstances are fully justified and evidenced. When reviewing Greenbelt boundaries, 'the need to promote sustainable patterns of development should be taken into account' (Para. 138) Specific areas of concern include the adverse impact on habitat, woodland, water quality and flood risk, and the lack of accessibility to public transport.

Each of the proposed developments noted above will have an adverse impact, not only on the immediate area but on the whole of Bingley and Cottingley. It is essential that Bradford Metropolitan District Council meets its responsibilities to regenerate brownfield sites, before utilising Green Belt land'.

Six members of the public left the meeting at 6.55pm.

2021/99 To receive information on the following ongoing issues and decide further action where necessary:

- Any notified Planning Panels
- Any notified Planning Appeals

None

2021/100 Consideration of Planning Applications

	Ref number	Address	Description	BTC comment
1	21/00462/HOU	61 Swan Avenue, Bingley	Single storey extension to the side and rear	Resolved to make no comment on this application.
2	21/00478/HOU	83 Swan Avenue, Bingley	Single storey rear extension	Resolved to recommend that this application be approved.
3	21/00511/LBC	Beckfoot Cottage, Beckfoot Lane, Bingley	Replace the existing single glazed partially wooden windows with double glazed metal "heritage" units. Replace the current softwood staircase with a solid oak staircase	Resolved to recommend that this application be approved.
4	21/00504/LBC	4 Ryshworth Hall, Keighley Road, Bingley	Modify and repair triple arched window to rear elevation, install three pane flush casement window to rear bedroom, fit 4 x double glazed sliding sash windows to front and rear, manufacture and fit oak stable door and casing,	Resolved to recommend that this application be approved.
5	21/00558/HOU	9 Greenhill Drive, Micklethwaite	Single storey side and rear extension	Resolved to recommend that this application be refused on grounds of overdevelopment, not in keeping with the area, size and scale of the proposal and drainage issues.
6	21/00318/HOU	2 Hunterscombe Court, Eldwick	Single storey rear and side extension to link house and garage. Balcony and double doors from first floor garage accommodation.	Resolved to make no comment on this application.
7	21/00570/HOU	Hethersett, 4 Birchdale, Bingley	New rear single storey extension and new pitched roof over existing garage	Resolved to recommend that this application be approved.

8	21/00573/HOU	Redlands, Otley	Conversion of and	Resolved to recommend
		Road, Eldwick	extension to existing	that this application be
			garage to create annex	approved.
9	21/00216/HOU	12 Druids View, Keighley Road, Bingley	Retrospective fence and gate	Resolved to recommend that this application be approved.
10	21/00742/HOU	61 Beckfield Road, Cottingley	Side and rear extension and loft conversion with dormer window.	Resolved to recommend that this application be approved.
11	21/00734/FUL	158-160 Main Street, Bingley	Alteration to shop front	Resolved to recommend that this application be refused on the grounds of inappropriate materials and the location being in a conservation area. The proposals are in contravention of the Local Development Framework for Bradford Shopfront Design Guide SPD (October 2007).
12	21/00776/HOU	66 Swan Avenue, Bingley	Garage single storey side extension. Conversion to annex with a dormer window	Resolved to recommend that this application be approved.
13	21/00809/HOU	65 Manor Drive, Cottingley	Construction of new pitched roof over existing flat roof side extension.	Resolved to recommend that this application be approved.
14	21/00838/HOU	10 Tulyar Court, Gilstead	Garage conversion and additional parking space with dropped kerb	Resolved to make no comment on this application.
15	21/00319/HOU	10 Victoria Street, Micklethwaite	Removal of existing garden room and increase width of the garage	Resolved to recommend that this application be approved.
16	21/00857/HOU	45 Hazel Beck, Cottingley	Single storey side extension, porch to front and rear single storey extension (covered by permitted development rights)	Resolved to recommend that this application be approved.
17	21/00868/FUL	Topp and Holmes, Bradford Road, Bingley	Change of use from joinery workshop and ancillary offices to a hair and beauty salon	Resolved to raise concerns about highways safety issues regarding access to the site, the potential for accidents on a busy corner and parking issues.

2021/102 Updates

a) To receive an update regarding Greenhill development and agree any action required

- b) To receive an update regarding Milner Fields Farm and agree any action required.
- c) To receive an update regarding the Aire Valley incinerator and agree any action required.
- a) No update
- b) No update
- c) No update.

2021/103 Next Meeting of the Planning Committee

The next meeting of the Planning Committee will be held on Tuesday 13th April 2021 arrangements to be confirmed.